Appeal No. 24-CV-0397

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

CHARLES E. WILSON, et al.

Appellants,

v.

MURIEL E, BOWSER, et al.

Appellees.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia

Civil Case No. 2023-CAB-005414

(Carl E. Ross, Judge, D.C. Superior Court)

APPELLANTS' BRIEF

/s/Johnny Barnes

Johnny Barnes, D.C. Bar Number 212985 *Counsel for Appellants* 301 "G" Street, S.W - Suite B101 Washington, D.C. 20024 AttorneyJB7@gmail.com Telephone (202) 882-2828

Dated: 7 June 2024



Clerk of the Court Received 06/07/2024 03:00 PM Resubmitted 06/07/2024 03:29 PM Filed 06/07/2024 03:29 PM

THE PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

"It is too late in the day and entirely contrary to the spirit of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure for decisions on the merits to be avoided on the basis of such mere technicalities. The Federal Rules reject the approach that pleading is a game of skill in which one misstep by counsel may be decisive to the outcome and accept the principle that the purpose of pleading is to facilitate a proper decision on the merits," *Foman v. Davis*, 1962, 371 U.S. 178 (1962), Justice Arthur Goldberg.

This is an appeal from an Order of Dismissal docketed 28 March 2024, in

D.C. Superior Court, dismissing Appellants' Complaint, without a Hearing,

vacating all future hearings, and closing the Case.

Most notably, this Case was dismissed by the Trial Court, not because it was

untimely or late filed, but solely because it was early filed, one day earlier than the

time asserted by Appellees that the Statute requires, an early filing, the Trial Court

found, not a late filing. Opining that it would offend traditional notions of

statutory interpretation, the trial judge ruled that the Complaint was prematurely filed the day before the District of Columbia Board of Elections (Hereafter "DCBOE") published its Notice in the D.C. Register on, September 1, 2023, and was therefore beyond the Court's jurisdiction. Without addressing the question of whether or not Appellants' Complaint asserted claims outside of the statutory tenday mandate, the trial judge dismissed the Complaint in its entirety, including the rejection of Appellants' argument that even if the entire Complaint could be deemed a protest to the summary statement, short title, and legislative form. The **day the Complaint was docketed by the Court was indeed 1 September 2023, not August 31, 2023, (the day it was stamped in the Clerk's office at 5:29:46 PM by counsel, after business hours) was the presumptive date of filing.**

District of Columbia public policy favors a fair and equitable legal system that is based upon the notion of equity of the law. Equity of law seeks to find balance between the legal and equitable interests of all parties concerned, which is integral to a just legal system. This is certainly true in situations regarding the decisions of an agency. The Complaint raised issues that went beyond the publication acts of the DCBOE and involve momentous matters of law and equity.

Moreover, enlightened courts, including the United States Supreme Court, have reasoned, and ruled that an early filing is not an untimely filing, not jurisdictional, and not grounds for dismissal. A broad reading of statutes and court rules, at all levels, and in most jurisdictions reveals that "untimely" means late, not early. Such was the ruling in *Stewart v. Iancu*, 912 F.3d 693 (4th Cir. 2019), where the Court ruled that, the 180-day waiting period involved in Title VII's exhaustion requirement for federal employees is "non-jurisdictional". Other courts, including the District of Columbia Circuit, have reasoned the same, *Fowlkes v. Ironworkers Local 40*, 790 F.3d 378, 385 (2d Cir. 2015) (holding that the failure to exhaust administrative remedies does not raise a jurisdictional bar); *Artis v. Bernanke*, 630 F. 3d 1031, 1034 n.4 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (same); *Frederique-Alexandre v. Dep't of Nat. & Envtl. Res. of Puerto Rico*, 478 F.3d 433, 440 (1st Cir. 2007). As here, when an agency does not timely act, the waiting period is satisfied by agency inaction, *Darby v. Cisneros*, 509 U.S. 137, 155, (1993). Early filing doesn't determine jurisdiction.

Distilled to its essence, Appellants simply argue here that the trial Judge's dismissal for lack of jurisdiction is reversible error because a premature filing is not fatal and is highly prejudicial to Appellants.

In this Appeal, Appellants contend that the trial court, with prejudicial effect, erred in dismissing their Complaint in its entirety, rendering the critical issues raised in the Complaint moot and leaving Appellants with no alternative to adjudicate on the merits of significant public interest matters. Among other things, the Complaint filed by Appellants raises grave questions concerning the powers of the D.C. Board of Elections, an Agency of the local Government, vis-à-vis the powers reserved to the Council of the District of Columbia, a separate Branch of that local Government, and even the powers of the United States Congress. This Case embodies no minor matter.

Appellants maintain that the trial court made several errors as a matter of law in its ruling. They include, but are not limited to:

First, the trial court's dismissal for lack of timeliness is highly prejudicial to Plaintiffs-Appellants but not to Defendants-Appellees. The trial court erred in ruling that a one-day early filing required outright dismissal without consideration of alternative avenues, allowing the merits of the matter to be heard and decided.

Second, applying the ten-day protest timeframe under D.C. Code § 1-1001.16(d)(2)¹ to all claims asserted in the Complaint was error because Appellants' Complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief could have been heard under the trial court's general equity jurisdiction, without regard to the Statute.²

² Jurisdiction – Apart from the Statute, the trial court had jurisdiction over

¹ D.C. Code § 1-1001.16(d)(2) provides "If any registered qualified elector of the District of Columbia objects to the summary statement, short title, or legislative form of the initiative measure formulated by the Board pursuant to subsections (c) and (d) of this section, that person may seek review in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia within 10 calendar days from the date the Board publishes the summary statement, short title, and legislative form in the District of Columbia Register stating objections and requesting appropriate changes. The Superior Court of the District of Columbia shall expedite the consideration of this matter."

Third, Appellants contend that dismissal for failure to state a cause of action under Rule 12(b)(6) is contrary to prevailing case precedents that dismissal for failure to state a claim runs counter to long-standing judicial preference for resolution of disputes on the merits. The merits of Appellants claims were never considered by the trial court. The faulty Initiative has been put forward to be considered by D.C. voters in the next general election scheduled for 4 November 2024. And the deadline for proposers to gather signatures is 8 July 2024.

The trial court's ruling should be reversed, and this Court should remand the matter for consideration of the claims raised in the Complaint.

HIGHLY RELEVANT YET DISREGARDED FACTUAL BACKGROUND

As indicated, dismissal was granted by the trial court, without a hearing and without consideration of the significant, serious, and consequential matters raised by Appellants in their Complaint.

Appellee, D.C. Board of Elections (hereafter DCBOE), held a Hearing on 18 July 2023 and received testimony. At the conclusion of the Hearing, DCBOE this action pursuant to the D.C. Code \$ 1 1-921 and D.C. Code \$ 1– 1001.16(e)(1)(A). The Court has the authority to grant declaratory relief under

1001.16(e)(1)(A). The Court has the authority to grant declaratory relief under D.C. Superior Court Rule 57, incorporating Title 28 U.S.C. § 2201. This Court has jurisdiction over Appellees pursuant to D.C. Code Ann. §§ 13-422 and 13-423. D.C. Superior Court Civil Rule, Declaratory Judgment. The court may order a speedy hearing of a declaratory-judgment action. And, D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(2)(A) states that the court has jurisdiction to review orders "granting, continuing, modifying, refusing, or dissolving or refusing to dissolve or modify injunctions. These issues were raised below, by Appellants.

agreed to keep the record open for written comments until noon on Friday, 21 July 2023. DCBOE continued the matter to review the comments and to meet in executive session. On 19 July 2023, DCBOE posted on its website a notice that it would meet at 2:00 pm on 21 July 2023. DCBOE reconvened on 21 July 2023. On that date, and at that time, DCBOE announced, without adequate findings of fact and conclusions of law as required by the D.C. Administrative Procedure Act (D.C. APA), its ruling that the Measure was "Accepted" as a proper subject matter for an Initiative. It then published its Opinion and Order on 25 July 2023, on its website.³

While both the General Counsel of the Council of the District of Columbia and the Attorney General of the District of Columbia have opined, as they must, on the appropriateness and permissibility of the Initiative "Make All Votes Count Act of 2024" (hereafter, "The Initiative"), their Opinions are antipodal and diametrically opposite. Both however agree on the legal limitations of Initiatives. No Initiative should be accepted and approved by DCBOE if 1) it appropriates funds,⁴ 2) it violates or seeks to amend the D.C. Home Rule Act (formally Titled

³ Appellants noted to the trial court in their pleadings, "At this writing, it is unclear whether DCBOE has published its 25 July 2023 Decision and Opinion in the D.C. Register, as required."

⁴ The General Counsel of the Council of the District of Columbia's Advisory Opinion puts laser focus on this legal limitation imposed on the Initiative, and Plaintiffs quite agree; In the interest of compendiousness and brevity, that Advisory Opinion is annexed, as *Appellants' Appendix Pages 4-8*.

"The District of Columbia Self-Government and Governmental Reorganization Act" (which Plaintiffs will continue to refer to hereafter as the "D.C. Home Rule Act"), 3) it violates the United States Constitution, 4) it authorizes discrimination prohibited by the D.C. Human Rights Act, 5) it vitiates and negates an Act of the D.C. Council, D.C. Code §§ 1-204.101(a) and 1–1001.16(b)(1). For reasons that follow, this initiative violates all those legal limitations and more.

The several states in the United States have sovereign power. By comparison, the District of Columbia does not. The Federal Government is the holder of the sovereign power for the Seat of Government. Any local power that exists must be expressly and explicitly delegated to the District of Columbia by the Congress of the United States. Such delegation was done by Congress in 1973, through the enactment of the D.C. Home Rule Charter (hereafter, "The Charter"). The Charter is superior to the laws enacted by the D.C. Council, Jason Newman and Jacques DePuy, Bringing Democracy to the Nation's Last Colony: The District of Columbia Self-Government Act, 24 A.U. L. Rev. 537 at 576 (1975). "Changes [to the Charter] from an elected Mayor-Council form of government can be initiated by the Congress and approved by the President. Any other changes in the Charter [with the exceptions of 401, 402, matters related to the Judiciary, and sections 601, 602 and 603, regarding explicit exemptions from Council authority] may be originated by the Council by act and then must be

referred to a referendum of the citizens of the District. A majority of the citizens must approve the Amendment ...," and then, ultimately, it goes to Congress, Jason Newman, Director and Johnny Barnes, Deputy Director and others, *The District of Columbia, Its History, Its Government, its: People,* Page 484, published by the D.C. Project: Community Legal Assistance, Georgetown University Law Center (September 1975).

While the Home Rule Act gave District residents the right to vote for a local elected government, Congress has placed severe restraints on that right. Many liken District residents to Native Americans, commenting that with Home Rule, District residents were given "the reservation without the buffalo." This label is particularly poignant at times when the District government seeks to manage and conduct its financial affairs. Congress must pass an appropriations bill for the District, as it does for every federal agency. Thus, from local budget formulation to implementation the process can take as many as eighteen months ... The form and structure of the District makes it very different from any state and makes it difficult to conduct an efficient government," 13 U. D.C. L. Rev. 1, 3, University of the District of Columbia Law Review (Spring 2010) TOWARDS EQUAL FOOTING: RESPONDING TO THE PERCEIVED CONSTITUTIONAL, LEGAL AND PRACTICAL IMPEDIMENTS TO STATEHOOD FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, Johnny Barnes. That difficulty raises its ugly head when the District

of Columbia and its citizens seek to do that which all other citizens of the states can. As here, they cannot.

The "Accepted" Initiative Violates the D.C. Home Rule Act – The

Hechinger Case Precedent. In Hechinger v. Martin, 411 F. Supp. 650 (D.D.C.

1976), John Hechinger, of Hechinger Hardware Stores and a former District of

Columbia Democratic National Committeeman, challenged a provision in the

Home Rule Charter. Circuit Judge J. Skelly Wright led the three-judge panel.

Plaintiffs sought a judgment declaring Sections 401(b) (2) and 401(d)(3) of the

Home Rule Act unconstitutional and enjoining the defendant Board from enforcing

those limitations.

Section 401(b)(2) of the Charter read:

"In the case of the first election held for office of member of the Council after the effective date of this title, not more than two of the at-large members (excluding the Chairman) shall be nominated by the same political party. Thereafter, a political party may nominate a number of candidates for the office of at-large member of the Council equal to one less than the total number of at-large members (excluding the Chairman) to be elected in such election." [2] Section 401(d)(3) read:

"Notwithstanding any other provision of this section, at no time shall there be more than three members (including the Chairman) serving at large on the Council who are affiliated with the same political party.

While the Hechinger Court spent much time on the First and Fifth

Amendment rights of individual, independent voters, in the end, the Court ruled

that the limitations imposed by Congress in the Home Rule Charter, as here,

should stand. To the contrary, this Initiative's open primary provision openly violates the District of Columbia Home Rule Charter, as it guts the Home Rule Charter's requirement that the Mayor, DC Council, and Attorney General be elected on a partisan basis, D.C. Code §§1-204.21, 1-204.01, 1-204.35. D.C. Code §1-1171.01 (5) defines the term "partisan," stating "when used as an adjective means related to a political party." Further, DC Code §1-1171.01(6) provides that a "partisan political group" means any committee, club, or other organization that is regulated by the District and that is affiliated with a political party or candidate for public office in a partisan election, or organized for a partisan purpose, or which engages in partisan political activity." In short, the Home Rule Chater and D.C. laws defining partisan elections require the Mayor, D.C. Council, and Attorney General to be elected on a partisan basis. The *Hechinger* Court did not seek to legislate how best to ensure that the First and Fifth Amendment rights of independent voters are protected --- and the Court reasoned that those rights should be protected --- the Court simply made certain that while it may be fine for Congress, as the sovereign authority over the District of Columbia to do so, only Congress could do so, not the D.C. Board of Elections.

Most problematic, the "Accepted" Initiative Wrongfully and Without Authority Appropriates Funds. The central thrust of the Case of *Convention* *Center Referendum Committee, et al., Appellants, v. District of Columbia Board of Elections and Ethics, et al., Appellees,* 441 A.2d 889 (1981), with the D.C. Court of Appeals, sitting *En Banc*, is that the Initiative was barred because the Initiative proposed a law appropriating funds. That is the same conclusion that the General Counsel of the D.C. Council reached in its Advisory Opinion about the instant Initiative. Although the D.C. Council requests funds, it is Congress, not the D.C. Council, that does the "appropriating, D.C. Code § 47-224.

In Glass v. Smith, 150 Tex. 632, 244 S.W. 2d 645 (1951), the Texas Supreme Court stated in a well-considered opinion that it would impose on the initiative right only those limitations expressed in the law or "clear[ly] and compelling[ly]" implied. Id. at 637, 244 S.W.2d at 649. The limitation on appropriating is clearly and compellingly expressed in the Home Rule Charter. As implementing legislation, the Initiative Procedures Act is valid, of course, only insofar as it conforms to the underlying Charter Amendments. These amendments to the District Charter, Home Rule Act, *supra* note 1, tit. IV, §§ 401-95; *see* note 5 supra, are constitutional provisions, see Washington Home Ownership Council, Inc., supra at 1369 (Mack, J., with Newman, C. J. & Pryor, J., dissenting); 2 E. McQuillin, *supra* § 9.03, at 623, and cannot be amended or contravened by ordinary legislation. See D.C. Code 1978 Supp., §§ 1-124, -125, -128(a); 2 E. McQuillin, supra § 9.25, at 703. Accordingly, the D.C. Court of Appeals, in the

Convention Center Case, concluded that the "laws appropriating funds" exception prevents the electorate from using the initiative to adopt a budget request act or make some other affirmative effort to appropriate funds," *Convention Center Referendum Committee, et al., Appellants, v. District of Columbia Board of Elections and Ethics, et al., Appellees,* 441 A.2d 914 (1981).

The D.C. Attorney General's Office's reliance on the *En Banc* Decision of the D.C. Court of Appeals, in *Convention Center Referendum Committee*, et al., Appellants, v. District of Columbia Board of Elections and Ethics, et al., Appellees, 441 A.2d 889 (1981), is misplaced. Indeed, the Court, in that case, rejected DCBOE's "acceptance of a Referendum, stating, "The right of initiative, however, does not extend to all legislation the Council could enact. We further conclude that the CCRC initiative is barred by the Charter Amendments exception precluding initiatives for "laws appropriating funds," *id.* — an exception reflected in the "Dixon Amendment," id. § 1-1116(k)(7), to the Initiative, Referendum, and Recall Procedures Act, id. §§ 1-1116 to -1119.3 (Initiative Procedures Act)" Erecting the voting apparatus for electing the Mayor, D.C. Council and Attorney General plainly belongs to Congress, and the D.C. Board of Elections may not "accept" and approve an Initiative that seeks to remove that right from Congress.⁵

⁵ This Honorable Court made a similar ruling ten years later, and again fifteen years after that, finding other Initiatives improper subjects because they would appropriate funds. The District of Columbia Court of Appeals has determined that

The subject Initiative violates the First and Fifth Amendments to the United

States Constitution. While the Hechinger Court ruled that the D.C. Board of

Elections was not authorized and empowered to disturb the Congressional

mandates of sections 401(b) (2) and 401(d)(3) of the Charter, the Court fully

embraced the First and Fifth Amendment rights of individual voters. If the

Initiative goes forward those rights of voters who belong to the Democratic Party

in Washington, D.C. would be abridged.

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