Case No. 24-CV-0397



Clerk of the Court Received 07/22/2024 12:51 PM Filed 07/22/2024 12:51 PM

# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Charles E. Wilson, Appellant,

v.

Muriel E. Bowser, et al., Appellees.

Appeal of Superior Court Order in Case No. 2023-CAB-005414

## APPELLEE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA BOARD OF ELECTIONS' INITIAL BRIEF AND MOTION FOR SUMMARY AFFIRMANCE

Respectfully submitted,

Terri D. Stroud General Counsel for the District of Columbia Board of Elections

Christine Pembroke Bar No. 417913 Senior Attorney Advisor District of Columbia Board of Elections 1015 Half Street SE, Suite 750 Washington, DC 20003 Phone: (202) 727-4666 Email: cpembroke@dcboe.org

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

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As indicate above, Appellant filed his challenge to the Board's proper subject findings outside the mandatory statutory window. He did so despite ample warning of that filing requirement. Accordingly, the Superior Court's Order dismissing the complaint as untimely filed should be affirmed.

Because Appellant, without justification or cause, forfeited his remedy at law, the Superior Court lacked jurisdiction to consider his plea for equitable relief. Therefore, this appeal should not be remanded for consideration of the merits of Appellant's claims.

Assuming for the sake of argument that the Superior Court had jurisdiction to consider granting Appellant/plaintiff's request for permanent injunctive relief, Appellant simply cannot meet the heightened standard for such remedy.

Finally, should this Court find that the Superior Court erred in dismissing the complaint, the Board's decision finding that the Measure met proper subject

references to Rule 12(b)(6) is harmless and Appellant's argument that the complaint stated a claim for Rule 12(b)(6) purposes is not relevant.

requirements is entitled to summary affirmance. Accordingly, for that independent reason, this appeal should be denied.

# V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

## a. THE SUPERIOR COURT DECISION THAT THAT COURT LACKED JURISDICTION MUST, AS A MATER OF LAW, BE AFFIRMED ON APPEAL.

Standard of Review. At issue in this appeal is the Superior Court's

determination with respect to the following statutory language:

If any registered qualified elector of the District of Columbia objects to the summary statement, short title, or legislative form of the initiative measure formulated by the Board pursuant to subsections (c) and (d) of this section, that person may seek review in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia *within 10 calendar days from the date the Board publishes* the summary statement, short title, and legislative form *in the District of Columbia Register*.

D.C. Official Code § 1-1001.16(e)(1)(A) (emphasis added). In interpreting a statute,

[This Court] first look[s] to its language; if the words are clear and unambiguous, [the Court] must give effect to its plain meaning. The intent of the legislature is to be found in the language used. The burden on a litigant who seeks to disregard the plain meaning of the statute is a heavy one, and this court will look beyond the ordinary meaning of the words of a statute only where there are persuasive reasons for doing so.

Kelly v. D.C. Dep't of Emp't Servs., 214 A.3d 996 (D.C. 2019) (citation omitted)).

In addition, the Court is "required to construe the right of initiative liberally . . . and

may impose on the right only those limitations expressed in the law or clearly and compellingly implied."<sup>38</sup>

This Court reviews the Superior Court's grant of a motion to dismiss under Rules 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6) on a *de novo* basis. *Grayson v. AT&T Corp.*, 15 A.3d 219, 228 (D.C. 2011) (*en banc*). To survive a Rule 12(b)(1) motion to dismiss for lack of subject-matter jurisdiction, "the plaintiff bears the burden of establishing jurisdiction by a preponderance of the evidence." *Moran v. U.S. Capitol Police Board*, 820 F.Supp.2d 48, 53 (D.D.C. 2011) (citation omitted).

Finally, in evaluating the failure of Appellant's counsel to timely file the complaint, it is noteworthy that this is not the case of a *pro se* litigant inexperienced in administrative practice. *Pliler v. Ford*, 542 U.S. 225, 231 (2004) (the forum has no obligation to act as counsel or paralegal to even *pro se* litigants); *Jones v. Morton*, 195 F.3d 153, 160 (3rd Cir.1999) (failure to understand does not excuse noncompliance with litigation requirements). Appellant's counsel should be charged with knowledge of the procedures that must be followed to avail his client of his legal remedies. *McKart v. United States*, 395 U.S. 185, 195 (1969) (courts will not "encourg[e] people to ignore [an agency's] procedures" by allowing litigants who "deliberate[ly] flout[]" administrative processes to seek those forfeited

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Hessey v. Burden, 584 A.2d 1, 3 (D.C. 1990) remanded, 615 A.2d 562 (D.C. 1994) and Stevenson v. D.C. Bd. of Elections and Ethics, 683 A.2d 1371, 1377 (D.C. 1986).

administrative remedies from the court later); *Topinka v. Kimme*, 78 N.E.3d 440, 443 and 445 (Ill. App. 2017) (plaintiff cannot defeat the elections law's review requirements "simply by refusing to trigger the 'condition precedent' of filing a complaint before [the State Elections Board] and instead filing his claims in the [trial] court").

1. Contrary to Appellant's attempt to characterize the timing requirements of the election laws as non-binding, mere technicalities, the Superior Court properly found that those laws controlled the disposition of the complaint below and that, pursuant to such laws, the court lacked jurisdiction over the matter.

Appellant suggests (at pp. 27 and 47) that appeal deadlines are "mere technicalities" which should not be relied upon to avoid a decision on the merits. Citing to cases outside the election law context and primarily in matters of review under the federal Administrative Procedures Act, he argues (at pp. 10-11, 25 and 34) that early filing does not constitute untimely filing and that, therefore, such filing does not raise a jurisdictional bar.

This Court has made clear, however, that the timelines for election law matters are not mere technicalities. As this Court has noted, the statutory procedures regarding initiatives provide the "only permitted means" by which an initiative may be challenged. *Davies v. D.C. Bd. of Elections & Ethics*, 596 A.2d at 994 ("Plaintiff can show no right to challenge the placement of an initiative on the ballot other than the right established by statute" (citation omitted)). The strict application of

elections laws' timing requirements is, *inter alia*, consistent with the mandate that initiative matters be construed liberally and only those limitations expressed in the law or clearly and compellingly implied may be imposed on initiatives.<sup>39</sup>

This Court has also instructed that compliance with the time limits imposed by the election laws is particularly important to maintain stability and continuity in the administration of government (see White v. D.C. Bd. of Elections and Ethics, 537 A.2d 1133, 1135 (D.C. 1988)) and to avoid piecemeal and possibly moot litigation (see Lawrence v. D.C. Bd. of Elections & Ethics, 611 A.2d 529, 531 (D.C. 1992)). The failure to mount a challenge within the statutory timeframe will preclude review by the court. Davies, supra. Moreover, the case law specifically instructs that this Court's jurisdiction is contingent upon seeking court review within statutory periods and that actions brought prior to the expiration of such periods must be dismissed as premature. Lawrence, 611 A.2d at 531; U.S. ex rel. Langley v. Bowen, 6 D.C. 196 (D.C. Sup. 1867) (where the statute fixes a time for the Board of Elections to act and that time has not expired, a petition for writ of mandamus to require the Board to act will be dismissed as premature).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> *Hessey, supra*, 584 A.2d at 3 (citations and quotations omitted); *see also, Stevenson,* 683 A.2d at 1377 (citing Superior Court order under review that stated: "As a franchise right, the initiative right should be liberally construed in both substantive and procedural contexts so as to advance and favor franchise.").

Appellant's reliance (at pp. 10-11 and 28-29) on cases involving review under the Administrative Procedure Act ("APA") for the proposition that only late filings can be viewed as untimely is unpersuasive. Indeed, consistent with its finding that the elections laws apply strictly to initiative matters, this Court has eschewed the notion that the D.C. APA provides a vehicle for challenging an initiative.<sup>40</sup>

As emphasized above, the Board's General Counsel announced on two occasions that the mandatory statutory time for seeking judicial review of the Board's action on an initiative matter would not commence until the publication of the formulations in the D.C. Register on September 1, 2023. Appellant ignored the law and her guidance. Instead, he chose to file in court before the final formulations of the Measure had been confirmed by publication.

The elections laws are crystal clear. On the one hand, the *proposer* can bring a direct challenge to the Board's rejection of an initiative on proper subject grounds within ten days of such rejection. On the other hand, the *opponents of the matter must wait until after the initiative's formulations are published in the D.C. Register* to challenge the measure in the Superior Court. The practical rationales for the timing restrictions on opponent litigation are self-evident: they avoid possible piecemeal litigation regarding issues that might be resolved by the formulation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Davies, 596 A.2d at 996.

process and possible premature litigation by limiting Court review to the final version of the proposed legislation and a complete record.<sup>41</sup>

It is beyond dispute that Appellant was not the proposer of the Measure and that he falls into the category of an opponent. Accordingly, as a matter of law, he was barred from challenging the Measure until on or after September 1, 2023 when the Board had published the formulations for that Measure in the D.C. Register. Because Appellant filed the complaint before the Measure's formulations were so published, Appellant failed to seek review within the ten-day window for challenging an initiative matter. For these reasons, there was no jurisdiction in the Superior Court over this matter and, as provided in Rule 12(h)(3), the court below was required to dismiss.

Appellant has indisputably failed to carry his burden of showing that the plain meaning of the statute should be disregarded. Moreover, this Court's obligation to construe the right of initiative liberally and impose only those limitations on that right that are expressed in the law or clearly and compellingly implied would be rendered fairly meaningless if opponents of initiative matters are not held to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> For example, if initiative opponents were not required to wait until the publication of the formulations and they sought judicial review immediately after the Board finds that a matter is a proper subject and the CFO was to then, as part of the formulation process, conclude that an initiative matter had no fiscal impact, the Court's time could be unnecessarily wasted on consideration of an otherwise moot issue as to whether the initiative improperly interferes with the Council's discretion over spending.

restrictions on challenging initiative proposals. Given Appellant's clear violation of the time restrictions imposed under the elections laws, this Court should affirm the Order that is on appeal.

2. This appeal should be denied given that the Superior Court correctly concluded in its Order that the period for seeking review of the Board's proper subject matter findings does not begin when the Board posts initiative formulations on its website.

As he did below, Appellant contends (at pp. 23 and 34-35) that publication of the Measure's formulation on the Board's website triggered the ten-day window for seeking judicial review. In this regard, the statute requires that the Board, within 24 hours of adoption of the formulations,

(B) Submit the summary statement, short title, legislative form, and, if the measure is an initiative measure, the fiscal impact statement, to:(i) The District of Columbia Register for publication; and(ii) At least one newspaper of general circulation in the District; and(C) Publish the summary statement, short title, legislative form, and, if the measure is an initiative measure, the fiscal impact statement, on the Board's website.

D.C. Official Code § 1-1001.16(d)(2). Appellant vaguely suggests that the requirement that the Board publish the formulations on its website provides the meaning of publication for purposes of the time for seeking judicial review.

Appellant's position is directly contrary to the plain language of D.C. Official Code§ 1-1001.16(e)(1)(A) which requires that judicial review be sought "within 10 calendar days from the date the Board publishes . . . in the *District of Columbia Register*." Moreover, D.C. Official Code§ 1-1001.16(d)(2) refers to "publication"

in the D.C. Register as well as on the Board's website, and Appellant offers no rationale for treating the reference to publication on the Board's website as trumping the reference to publication in the D.C. Register in that same subsection. Further, the Board never adopted the position that time of publication for purposes of seeking judicial review was triggered by website posting of the formulations. Quite the contrary, the Board's General Counsel repeatedly stated on the public record that the period for seeking judicial review would start with publication in the D.C. Register and specifically on September 1, 2023. As Appellant's position (*i.e.*, that the statute's reference to publication for purposes of initiating the period for seeking judicial review started with posting of the formulations on the Board's website) is wholly without merit, this Court should deny his appeal.

# 3. This appeal should be denied given that the Superior Court correctly found that the date the complaint was filed and not the date that it was docketed is determinative of whether the case below was untimely filed.

Finally, Appellant claims (at pp. 10 and 24) that the date the complaint was docketed was the presumptive date of filing. There is, however, no legal or factual basis for his theory. The plain language of the statute requires the initiative opponent to seek review within the ten-day window. In this case, Appellant/plaintiff sought judicial review by filing his complaint a day before that window opened, regardless of when the court docketed the complaint. Appellant's suggestion that the Superior

Court clerk controlled the day that he sought review of the Measure confounds reason and his appeal should be denied as without merit.

### b. BECAUSE THERE WAS AN ADEQUATE REMEDY AT LAW, APPELLANT INCORRECTLY CLAIMS THAT THE SUPERIOR COURT HAD INDEPENDENT JURISDICTION IN EQUITY TO CONSIDER THE MERTIS OF HIS CLAIMS AND THIS CASE SHOULD NOT BE REMANDED FOR SUCH PURPOSE.

*Standard of review*. As noted above, an appeal from the Superior Court's grant of a motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction is reviewed by this Court on a *de novo* basis. *Grayson, supra*, 15 A.3d at 228.

Appellant claims (at pp. 12, 25, and 44-46) that the Superior Court's finding that it lacked jurisdiction over the case for purposes of the election laws was not a basis for that court to decline to consider the complaint's requests for equitable relief. He asserts (at p. 13) that this Court should remand the case for consideration of his claims for equitable relief. In that regard, he relies (at pp. 45-46) on *Hessey v. Burden*, 615 A.2d 562 (D.C. 1992) to suggest that the Superior Court could have invoked equity jurisdiction to consider the merits of Appellant's challenges to the Board's proper subject findings. As explained below, Appellant's view is flawed.

The Superior Court has no independent jurisdiction in equity to consider a matter where there is a remedy at law. *Threatt v. Winston*, 907 A.2d 780, 785-86 (D.C. 2006) ("It is 'axiomatic' that equitable relief will not be granted where the plaintiff has a complete and adequate remedy at law." (citation omitted)); *Id.* at 786

(A party who has an adequate remedy at law cannot seek relief in equity (citation omitted)); *Capitol Hill Hospital v. D.C. State Health Planning and Development Agency*, 600 A.2d 793, 802 (D.C. 1991) (availability of administrative remedy forecloses the option of a case in equity). Along these lines, Appellant's reliance on *Hessey, supra*, is misplaced. That case recognized that the Superior Court had authority to grant equitable relief only because that court had jurisdiction over that case under the election laws:

The case of *Hessey v. Burden* was not originally brought to the Superior Court under that court's general equity jurisdiction but, rather, under the specific provisions of D.C. Code §1320(b)(3) [now codified at§1-1001.16(b)(3)]. Once it was there, however, the court had jurisdiction, as a court of equity, to consider the opponents' remaining challenges to the proposed initiative.

*Id.* at 571.<sup>42</sup>

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